## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TRAVIS TANGUAY,

Petitioner, :

vs. : Case No.SC01-613

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Respondent. :

:

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

# INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DEBORAH K. BRUECKHEIMER Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0278734

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse

P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (863) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

# TOPICAL

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On March 12, 1999, the State Attorney for the Tenth Judicial Circuit filed a Petition for Commitment of Mr. Tanguay pursuant to the Jimmy Ryce Act (Supp.V1/R1,2). On August 26, 1999, Mr. Tanguay filed a Motion to Dismiss Proceedings Because of the Lack of Jurisdiction Over Subject Matter (Supp.V1/R48-51). At the hearing on the motion the following facts were uncontroverted:

- On April 25, 1996, Mr. Tanguay was sentenced to an indeterminate period as a juvenile not to exceed his 19th birthday.
- 2. Mr. Tanguay turned 19 on February 24, 1999.
- 3. Mr. Tanguay was held at the Polk Youth Development Center past the date his sentence expired.
- 4. The doctors who conducted assessments of Mr. Tanguay for purposes of the Jimmy Ryce Act met with Mr. Tanguay on March 4, 5, and 8, 1999.
- 5. The Petition for Commitment was filed on March 12, 1999.

(Supp.V1/R105,106) Thus, Mr. Tanguay was held in custody 16 days past his release date so that he could be evaluated for and proceeded against under the Jimmy Ryce Act. Mr. Tanguay states that this detention was illegal, and the State lost the ability to proceed against Mr. Tanguay under the Jimmy Ryce Act when he was no longer in lawful custody. The trial court, therefore, has no jurisdiction over the subject matter in this case.

The trial court denied the motion to dismiss on September 10, 1999; and Mr. Tanguay filed a Notice of Appeal on September 24, 1999, in the Second District Court of Appeal (Supp.V1/R94-95). The relief

sought in the Second District, however, was a petition for writ of prohibition. The Second District has the power to issue a writ of prohibition pursuant to Art. V, Sec. 4(b)(3), Florida Constitution, and Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(b)(3). The petition for writ of prohibition sought to command Circuit Court Judge Cecelia M. Moore from taking further action in this case inasmuch as this trial court judge has no jurisdiction over the subject matter. See English v. McCrary, 348 So. 2d 293 (Fla. 1977). The order that was the subject of the petition denied Petitioner's Motion to Dismiss Proceedings Because of the Lack of Jurisdiction Over Subject Matter. (Supp.V1/R48-51,93,94) Petitioner suffered present injury and had no adequate legal remedy because Petitioner was in custody pending a Jimmy Ryce Act proceeding.

Mr. Tanguay asked the Second District to issue a writ of prohibition commanding the trial court to refrain from further proceedings under the Jimmy Ryce Act and order Mr. Tanguay's immediate release from custody.

In its substituted opinion issued on 2-16-01 (App.E;VI/R175-179) the Second District agreed the State had denied Mr. Tanguay due process and violated his Fourth Amendment right to be free from unlawful seizure by not releasing him upon the lawful expiration of his sentence. The Act in effect at the time of Mr. Tanguay's detention made no provision for holding a person after the expiration of

their sentence, and the State continued to hold him without legal authority to do so. The Second District, however, only ordered his release from confinement pending the commitment hearing¹ turning the petition for writ of prohibition into a petition for writ of mandamus. The Second District did not dismiss the commitment petition, because it said Mr. Tanguay did not allege any prejudice from the State's unlawful detention other than the deprivation of his liberty. Because of the need for a uniform approach on this issue, the Second District certified to this Court the following question as one of great public importance:

WHEN THE STATE UNLAWFULLY DETAINS A PERSON BE-YOND THE EXPIRATION OF HIS OR HER SENTENCE IN ORDER TO SEEK CIVIL COMMITMENT PURSUANT TO THE JIMMY RYCE ACT, SHOULD THAT COMMITMENT PETITION BE DISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE?

Mr. Tanguay timely filed his notice to invoke this Court's jurisdiction.

<sup>1</sup> Which has not yet taken place.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The State's unlawful seizure of Mr. Tanguay for 16 days after he completed his sentence violated his Fourth Amendment and due process constitutional rights. The prejudice from such violations are inherent in the unlawful incarceration of Mr. Tanguay and require the commitment proceedings be dismissed with prejudice. There was, however, actual prejudice suffered by Mr. Tanguay as a result of the unlawful incarceration. As a result of this unlawful detention, the State was able to obtain information from Mr. Tanguay that it used to file the commitment papers and obtain a probable cause order from the trial court resulting in Mr. Tanguay's detention. That same illegally obtained information will be used by the State at a commitment The commitment proceedings in this case should be dismissed with prejudice. Mr. Tanguay's petition for writ of prohibition should have been granted. The trial court has no jurisdiction in this case. Every day Mr. Tanguay remains subject to the Act, he is being irreparably harmed. He has no other appropriate and adequate legal remedy. To continue to proceed under the Jimmy Ryce Act in this case constitutes the trial court acting in excess of its jurisdiction. English.

#### **ARGUMENT**

### ISSUE

WHEN THE STATE UNLAWFULLY DETAINS A PERSON BEYOND THE EXPIRATION OF HIS OR HER SENTENCE IN ORDER TO SEEK CIVIL COMMITMENT PURSUANT TO THE JIMMY RYCE ACT, SHOULD THAT COMMITMENT PETITION BE DISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE?

The first aspect of this issue is to address why the Second District noted a need for uniformity. The reasoning is not set forth in the opinion, but the issue was addressed in Mr. Tanguay's motion for rehearing. There it was pointed out that someone almost identically situated in Hernando County and the Fifth District would have their civil commitment proceedings under the Act dismissed with prejudice.

In <u>State v. Brewer</u>, 767 So. 2d 1249 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000), the Fifth District affirmed without opinion the decision of the lower court to dismiss the State's petition for involuntary civil commitment pursuant to the Jimmy Ryce Act. (App.A) In that lower court's opinion<sup>2</sup> it is clear the lower court dismissed the State's petition for involuntary civil commitment pursuant to the Jimmy Ryce Act with prejudice. By holding Mr. Brewer for 15 days beyond when he should

In Re the Commitment of: Charles Brewer, Respondent, Case
No. 99-555-CP-03-JF (Fla. 5th Cir. Dec. 6, 1999). (App.B)

have been released from incarceration after completing his sentence in order to pursue civil commitment proceedings, the lower court found Mr. Brewer was denied due process and the State had violated the ex post facto provisions of the Florida and United States

Constitutions (see Art. I, sec. 10 Fla. Const.; Art. I, sec. 10 U.S. Const.). When the State tried to argue it still had the ability to pursue civil commitment proceedings, the lower court rejected that argument. Thus, it is clear from the lower court's opinion in Mr. Brewer's case that the State's failure to seek civil commitment proceedings before Mr. Brewer's sentence had expired resulting in the unlawful detention of Mr. Brewer for 15 days caused the civil commitment proceedings to be dismissed with prejudice and the petition for involuntary civil commitment to be dismissed.

Mr. Tanguay would like the same result in his case. The Fifth District's PCA did not allow Mr. Tanguay to seek relief in this Court based on conflict, so he asked the Second District to certify the question as being one of great public importance in order to resolve the conflict that does exist.

As for the Second District's opinion denying dismissal of the commitment proceedings because of no apparent prejudice, the courts in <u>Brewer</u> apparently believed prejudice to be inherent in the unlawful incarceration of Mr. Brewer for 15 days, denying and violating Mr. Brewer's substantial state and federal constitutional rights. If

this Court does not agree with the Brewer courts, Mr. Tanguay can demonstrate an extremely prejudicial consequence of his illegal incarceration. While Mr. Tanguay was illegally incarcerated and prior to the commitment petition being filed, the State's doctors were interviewing Mr. Tanguay and obtaining statements that resulted in his detention and possible incarceration after trial. One psychiatrist and one psychologist constituting the multidisciplinary team of the Department of Children and Family Services made contact with Mr. Tanguay while he was being illegally detained and conducted a total of three (3) interviews with him. Information obtained from Mr. Tanguay during the time of his illegal detention was used by the multidisciplinary team in assessing whether Mr. Tanguay met the definition of a sexually violent offender. This same illegally obtained information was used by the State Attorney to decide whether to file a petition seeking the involuntary commitment of Mr. Tanguay. And, this same illegally obtained information was relied upon by the trial court to make a finding of probable cause to believe that Mr. Tanguay is a sexually violent predator. It can only be assumed that the State intends to also use this same illegally obtained information during the course of the commitment trial.

The obtaining and use of these statements has been highly prejudicial to Mr. Tanguay, and they would not have been obtained

except for the illegal incarceration of Mr. Tanguay. This prejudice requires the dismissal of the commitment proceedings with prejudice.

As to why Mr. Tanguay is entitled to relief, the State's unlawful detention of Mr. Tanguay after he should have been released from custody when he completed his sentence resulted in an unlawful seizure in violation of the Fourth Amendment and the constitutional right to due process. When the State failed to proceed against Mr. Tanguay while he was still in lawful custody with Jimmy Ryce Act procedures, the State lost the right to use the Jimmy Ryce Act in this case. Thus, the trial court has no jurisdiction over the subject matter in this case and must be prohibited from continuing these commitment proceedings.

Sec. 916.45, Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1998), states that the Jimmy Ryce Act procedures "apply to all persons currently in custody who have been convicted of a sexually violent offense...as well as to all persons convicted of a sexually violent offense in the future." Mr. Tanguay was not "currently" in lawful custody when the State started Jimmy Ryce Act proceedings—having waited several days after his period of confinement was up in which to start the examinations, and he has not recently been convicted of a sexually violent offense so as to kick in the "in the future" provision.

As the State has been so fond of arguing in cases involving the demand for adversarial probable cause hearings, this Act was meant to

start way before a defendant was supposed to be released from custody for a prison sentence. See Sec. 916.33, Fla.Stat. (Supp. 1998).

Hence, §916.45 applied to people currently in custody and to all who commit and are convicted of sexually violent offenses in the future.

The State was not counting on its inability to act fast enough, so it resulted to simply detaining people who had completed their prison terms because it could not get to them fast enough. Mr. Tanguay is one of those people. Because the State left a gap in its statute when it failed to foresee its inability to act while the person was still in lawful custody, it cannot now try to correct that oversight by simply ignoring it or stretching the meaning of the statute.

The 1999 version of the Jimmy Ryce Act acknowledged the problem of people getting released before they have been assessed and created a procedure for handling that situation. Sec. 394.9135, Fla.Stat. (1999), allows the State to hold a person who has been released for 72 hours in order to be assessed by the multi-disciplinary team. If the team recommends further proceedings under the Act, then the State has 48 hours to file a petition. If the petition is not filed within 48 hours, "the person shall be immediately released." Sec. 394.9135(3), Fla.Stat. (1999). If these deadlines are not met, sec. 394.9135(4), Fla.Stat. (1999), states the State can still proceed against the person under the Act; but the section does not provide for arresting the person and placing the person back in custody

pending the procedures. Sec. 394.915, Fla.Stat. (1999), does not address this issue inasmuch as it only addresses those who are still in custody when the petition is filed:

(1) When the state attorney files a petition seeking to have a person declared a sexually violent predator, the judge shall determine whether probable cause exists to believe that the person named in the petition is a sexually violent predator. If the judge determines that there is probable cause to believe that the person is a sexually violent predator, the judge shall order that the person remain in custody and be immediately transferred to an appropriate secure facility if the person's incarcerative sentence expires.

§394.915(1), Fla.Stat. (1999)(emphasis added). So it appears from a strict reading of the statutes that the State's failure to promptly proceed against a person under the Act before he is released -- allowing for the 72 + 48 hours extension -- results in the immediate release of the person and the person remains free even if the State decides to proceed under the Act after the person has been released.

This reading of the Act is not only clear under the statutes but it complies with constitutional protections under due process.

The State is given a short period of time in which to continue to detain the person; and if it cannot proceed under the Act during that time period, the person must be released. The State should not be able to detain someone indefinitely -- as it did in Mr. Tanguay's case by waiting 16 days -- until it could get around to proceeding under the Act. To allow such a practice would be to deny such

persons their constitutional right to due process.<sup>3</sup> Mr. Tanguay was denied such a right in his case, and the remedy for him is dismissal of all proceedings under the Act.

The State may try to argue that the 1999 provisions should apply that would allow them to proceed under the Act, but that would also require the immediate release of Mr. Tanguay from custody. When Mr. Tanguay tried to obtain habeas corpus relief from the Fourth District Court, that relief was denied (App. C and D). Thus, the 1999 provisions were denied to Mr. Tanguay; so the State cannot utilize the 1999 provisions only as it benefits the State.

In Johnson v. Department of Children and Family Services, 747

So. 2d 402 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999), the court ordered in a Jimmy Ryce Act case that the report filed by the multidisciplinary team be signed by all members within 72 hours or the petitioner would be released. In so holding the court stated, "the continued confinement of a person after he has served his full sentence for conviction of a crime is serious enough to warrant scrupulous compliance with the statute permitting such confinement, not to mention the applicable constitutional provisions." Id. at 403 (emphasis added). The court was ready to order the petitioner released from custody even though the evaluation by the team was not jurisdictional -- the report was so

 $<sup>^3</sup>$  Just because this is a civil proceeding, that does not mean the petitioner is not entitled to due process. <u>Valdez v. Moore</u>, 745 So. 2d 1009 at 1011 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999).

significant under the Act that failure to do it properly would result in the petitioner's release even if the State still went forward with the proceedings.

If failure to have all signatures of the team on the report is so significant as to result in the release of a person being held under the Act, then not doing the report at all while the person is in lawful custody should be jurisdictional. The statutes do not allow for unlimited continued detention until the State gets around to assessing someone, and any attempt to do so must be shut down as being unconstitutional as a denial of due process. Compliance with the Act must be strict and scrupulous. If there is any doubt as to how the statute is to be read, then it should be read in a light most favorable to the person sought to be committed. See sec. 775.021(1), Fla.Stat. (1999). Constitutional rights must also be upheld.

#### CONCLUSION

The State's petition for involuntary civil commitment under the Ryce Act should be dismissed with prejudice.