ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SC01-613

THOMAS D. HALL
SEP 0 3 2002

TRAVIS TANGUAY,

Petitioner,

VS.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General

RICHARD L. POLIN
Florida Bar No. 0230987
Senior Assistant Attorney General
Office of the Attorney General
Department of Legal Affairs
444 Brickell Avenue, Suite 950
Miami, Florida 33131
(305) 377-5441
(305) 377-5655 (fax)

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Both the lower court and the trial court properly concluded that there was no basis for dismissing the sexually violent predators commitment petition. There is no statutory requirement that the commitment petition be filed prior to the expiration of an individual's incarcerative sentence or commitment, as a juvenile, with the Department of Juvenile Justice. Thus, even if Tanguay had improperly been held in his juvenile commitment for 16 days after the expiration of that juvenile sentence, that would not provide a basis for the dismissal of the sexually violent predators civil commitment petition.

Alternatively, the State argues herein that Tanguay's juvenile sentence did not, in fact, expire prior to the filing of the sexually violent predators commitment petition. According to the juvenile delinquency statutes in effect at the time of the commission of the juvenile offenses for which Tanguay was held by the Department of Juvenile Justice, a commitment to the Department of Juvenile Justice was mandatory, until either age 21 or discharge by the Department of Juvenile Justice.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE MOTION TO DISMISS THE SEXUALLY VIOLENT PREDATORS COMMITMENT PETITION BECAUSE (A) THERE IS NO REQUIREMENT THAT THE PETITION BE FILED PRIOR TO THE EXPIRATION OF A QUALIFYING DELINQUENT'S CONFINEMENT WITH THE DEPARTMENT OF JUVENILE JUSTICE, AND (B) THE PETITION WAS, IN FACT, FILED PRIOR TO THE EXPIRATION OF THE JUVENILE'S SENTENCE.

The Petitioner herein argues that under the original version of the sexually violent predators commitment act, §916.31, et seq., Florida Statutes (Supp. 1998), a commitment petition had to be filed prior to the expiration of an individual's incarcerative sentence with the Department of Corrections, or, in the case of juveniles, at the expiration of an individual's confinement with the Department of Juvenile Justice. Using that as the initial premise of the argument, the Petitioner then asserts that the State improperly held Tanguay for 12 days after the expiration of his juvenile sentence, and prior to the filing of the commitment petition. As a result, the Petitioner argues that the commitment petition was untimely filed and that the lower court's opinion should have ordered that the petition be dismissed.

A. <u>A Commitment Petition May be Filed After Expiration of Sentence</u>

The initial premise to the Petitioner's argument, however, is simply incorrect.

There is no requirement, tantamount to a statute of limitations, which required the commitment petition to be filed prior to the expiration of the juvenile sentence. Therefore, even if the detention of Tanguay, for 12 days, beyond the alleged expiration of his juvenile sentence was improper, it would not render the commitment petition untimely, and would not bar the commitment proceedings.

At the outset, the State would note that the argument herein is limited to the original version of the sexually violent predators commitment act, as it went into effect on January 1, 1999. Sections 916.31-916.49, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1998). On May 26, 1999, the commitment act was substantially amended, and moved from chapter 916 to chapter 394. Section 394.9135, Florida Statutes (1999), which became operative approximately three months after the filing of the commitment petition in the instant case, includes express provisions which authorize the extended detention of an individual, for up to five days, at the expiration of an incarcerative sentence, to permit time for evaluations and decisions as to whether to file commitment petitions. That section further provides that even if the commitment petition is not filed within that extra five-day period, the State Attorney may subsequently file the petition, even after the individual has been released from the custody of the State. Section 394.9135(4), Florida Statutes. Those provisions were not in effect when the commitment petition herein was filed, and the Second District Court of Appeal, in its

opinion herein, noted that it was not addressing situations which would arise under those provisions of the act as amended. (R. 176-77). The State, in this proceeding, is not arguing that those provisions applied in the instant case, and they are beyond the scope of this case.

Turning to the act as it existed at the time of the filing of the commitment petition herein, it will be seen that there was no requirement mandating the filing of the commitment petition prior to the expiration of the individual's incarcerative sentence, with either the Department of Corrections or the Department of Juvenile Justice. Section 916.32(9)(a), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1998), defined "sexually violent predator," in part, as meaning a person who "has been convicted of a sexually violent offense." The phrase "convicted of a sexually violent offense," in turn, was defined to include those who had been adjudicated delinquent of a sexually violent offense. Section 916.32(2)(c), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1998).

With respect to the filing of the petition for commitment, the only provision in the commitment act was in §916.34, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1998):

Following receipt of the written assessment and recommendation from the multidisciplinary team, the state attorney in the judicial circuit where the person committed the sexually violent offense may file a petition with the circuit alleging that the person is a sexually violent predator and stating facts sufficient to support such allegation.

There are no further requirements or limitations in the only statutory provision which addresses the filing of the commitment petition. Neither there, nor anywhere else, can a requirement be found that the petition be filed prior to the expiration of the incarcerative sentence.

The Petitioner's fallacious argument hinges on provisions pertaining to the time period in which the evaluations and recommendations regarding an individual potentially subject to the commitment act would be made. Once again, these are the original provisions of the act, and the time periods, among other provisions, have since been amended. Section 916.33(1)(a), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1998), required that the "agency with jurisdiction over a person who has been convicted of a sexually violent offense," give "written notice" to a "multidisciplinary team" and the appropriate state attorney, "180 days or, in the case of an adjudicated committed delinquent, 90 days before":

(a) The anticipated release from total confinement of a person who has been convicted of a sexually violent offense....

The multidisciplinary team receiving such notice, would further receive relevant

² The "agency with jurisdiction" refers to either the Department of Corrections or the Department of Juvenile Justice, depending upon which of those departments has custody of the individual serving either a prison sentence or a juvenile detention. Section 916.32(1), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1998).

background documentation on the individual, and "[t]he team, within 45 days after receiving notice, shall assess whether the person meets the definition of a sexually violent predator and provide the state attorney with its written assessment and recommendation." Section 916.33(3), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1998).

None of the foregoing provisions mandate that the commitment petition be filed prior to the expiration of the incarcerative sentence.³ The Petitioner heavily emphasizes the reference to 180 or 90 days prior to the "anticipated release from total confinement." "Total confinement" was further defined in the act as meaning "that the person is currently being held in any physically secure facility being operated or contractually operated for the Department of Corrections, the Department of Juvenile Justice, or the Department of Children and Family Services." Section 916.32(1), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1998).⁴

Although the act refers to 90 and 180 days periods preceding the expiration of

³ The undersigned recognizes that the juvenile adjudication herein does not result in a prison "sentence." The phrase incarcerative sentence is used throughout this brief as a short-hand notation to designate both adult incarcerative sentences with the Department of Corrections, and juvenile delinquency commitments with the Department of Juvenile Justice.

⁴ The latter reference to facilities of the Department of Children and Families, would be implicated only in the rare instances of commitment proceedings following the release of an individual from a commitment in a criminal case after a verdict of not guilty by reason of insanity. Section 916.32(2)(b), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1998).

incarcerative sentences - i.e., the release from total confinement - those references are not in conjunction with a time limit for the filing of the commitment petition. Rather, those time periods were concerned solely with when the multidisciplinary team would receive notice, and when the multidisciplinary team would conduct its evaluation and make its recommendation to the Office of the State Attorney. Once the recommendation is made to the State Attorney, there is no further provision stating that the commitment petition must be filed within any particular time, let alone prior to the expiration of the incarcerative sentence.

Several provisions, in fact, clearly compel a contrary conclusion. First, \$916.33(2), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1998), provided:

The provisions of <u>this section</u> are not jurisdictional, and the failure to comply with them in no way prevents the state attorney from proceeding against a person otherwise subject to the provisions of ss. 916.31 - 916.49.

(emphasis added). Although the quoted sentence appeared in subsection two of 916.33, it refers to the "provisions of <u>this section</u>," and not merely to the provisions of subsection (2).⁵ Thus, the quoted jurisdictional disclaimer compels the conclusion

⁵ The Preface to the annual publication of the Florida Statutes by the State of Florida includes an explanation of the "numbering system," which makes it clear that a section would refer to a "whole decimal number consisting of the chapter number followed by digits appearing to the right of the decimal point," using 16.01 as an example. "Subsection," in turn, are designated by "whole Arabic numbers enclosed by parentheses." The legislature is presumably aware of the numbering system of the

that the failure of a governmental agency to comply with the time period for the notice requirements would not bar the filing of a commitment petition, even though it would delay the evaluation and recommendation periods. Likewise, the failure of the multidisciplinary team to complete its evaluation and recommendation within 45 days would not be jurisdictional and would not bar the filing of the commitment petition. That would hold true even if the 45 day period ran beyond the expiration of the incarcerative sentence.

The only requirement, under the original act, which arguably might be jurisdictional would be the requirement, in §916.34, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1998), that the State Attorney file the petition "following receipt of the written assessment and recommendation from the multidisciplinary team." Thus, the written recommendation and assessment must first be received, but the time periods in which they had to be received were not jurisdictional and could conceivably extend beyond the expiration of the prior incarcerative sentence.

Furthermore, the policies behind the sexually violent predators commitment act were (a) the protection of the public, from those who were dangerous as a result of defined mental conditions, and (b) the provision of appropriate long-term treatment

statutes which it enacts, and it is therefore significant that the legislature, in section 916.33, referred to the provisions of "this section," not "subsection," as being non-jurisdictional in nature.

to those who needed it as a result of those conditions. Section 916.31, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1998). There is nothing in those goals which is in any way inconsistent with the filing of a commitment petition after the expiration of the prior incarcerative sentence. If anything, the contrary would have to be presumed true, given the goals of the legislature.

Thus, the only relevant determination regarding the time of the filing of the commitment petition, is whether the requisite mental condition and dangerousness exist as of that time.

The above-quoted provisions, as well as the additional requirement that the cases proceed to trial within 30 days of the determination of probable cause, absent continuances for good cause, §916.36(1) and (2), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1998), do suggest that the legislature desired that these commitment cases proceed expeditiously. However, there was no mandate that the petition be filed prior to the expiration of the incarcerative sentence. By proceeding within the last 180 or 90 days of the incarcerative sentence, significant costs may be avoided - e.g., the cost of additional, pre-commitment housing by the Department of Children and Families, the cost of pretrial adversarial probable cause hearings. However, there is no indication in either the act, or its legislative history, that reflects a legislative intent for such

⁶ See Valdez v. Moore, 745 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999).

minimization of costs to prevail over the expressly stated policy of providing necessary protection to the public from those who are dangerous.

California case law has come to a conclusion consistent with the State's argument in this case. In Garcetti v. Superior Court, 80 Cal. Rptr. 2d 724 (Cal. App. 1998), the State filed a commitment petition against Lyles. At the time of the filing of the commitment petition, Lyles was in the custody of the State Department of Corrections, having had his parole recently revoked. Lyles claimed that his custodial status with the Department of Corrections, at the time of the filing of the commitment petition, was unlawful because his parole had been revoked for unlawful reasons. Thus, like Tanguay, her argued that he should not have been in custody at all at the time of the filing of the commitment petition, and that the commitment petition was therefore untimely.

The California appellate court noted that California's sexually violent predators statute specifically provided that a person is subject to commitment under the act if the person is "an individual who is in custody under the jurisdiction of the Department . . . and who is either serving a determinate prison sentence or whose parole has been revoked. . . . "Garcetti, 80 Cal. Rptr. 2d at 729, quoting Cal. Welf. & Inst. Code, §6601(a). Thus, unlike Florida's act, the California act specifically provided that it was applicable only to those in custody of the state Department of

Corrections at the time of the filing of the petition. Nevertheless, the fact that that person might be detained unlawfully beyond the expiration of the incarcerative sentence with the State Department of Corrections did <u>not</u> deprive the State of the ability to file a commitment petition under the act:

However, it does not inevitably follow from the SVP Act's element of custody that a determination of lawful custody is a jurisdictional prerequisite to the filing of a petition under the SVP Act for civil commitment. The question here is whether the fact Lyles's custodial status stemmed from an improper revocation of parole immunizes him from a petition for commitment as a sexually violent predator. As explained below, the trial court erred in treating the improper revocation of parole as a jurisdictional defect barring the People's petition for commitment.

<u>Id</u>. at 729.

In reaching this conclusion, the Court emphasized the act's twin purposes of "public protection and ensuring treatment to the dangerous mentally ill." 80 Cal. Rptr. 2d at 732. Those purposes "would not be advanced by treating the 'unlawful' revocation of parole as a jurisdictional barrier to a petition for commitment under the SVP Act." Id. The same reasoning would be applicable in the instant case. Indeed,

⁷ As noted in <u>Garcetti</u>, subsequent to the acts at issue in that case, the California commitment act was expressly amended to provide that a commitment petition should not be dismissed based on a later judicial determination that the individual's custody had been unlawful, if the unlawful custody was the result of a mistake of fact or law. 80 Cal. Rptr. 2d at 732, n. 7. That statutory amendment, however, had no bearing on

if anything, the State's position in the instant case is stronger than that of the State in Garcetti. Whereas the California act had a clear requirement that incarcerative custody exist when filing a commitment petition, Florida's act most clearly does not.⁸ Other California appellate court opinions came to the same conclusion. People v. Superior Court (Whitley), 81 Cal. Rptr. 2d 189 (Cal. App. 1999); People v. Hedge, 86 Cal. Rptr. 2d 52, 61 (Cal. App. 1999); People v. Hubbart, 88 Cal. App. 4thf 1202, 1228-29 (Cal. App. 2001); People v. Superior Court (Olmeda), 2001 WL 1299443 (Cal. App. Oct. 25, 2001). See also, Johnson v. Nelson, 142 F. Supp. 2d 1215 (S.D. Cal. 2001).

For the foregoing reasons, it should be concluded that the Florida statutory scheme does not contain any requirement that the commitment petition be filed on or before any particular date, let alone prior to the expiration of the incarcerative sentence which is being served. In this respect it would be comparable to the general civil commitment act, the Baker Act. There is no requirement that a general civil

the court's decision in Garcetti.

⁸ Section 916.45, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1998), and its successor, section 394.925, Florida Statutes (1999), both provide that the commitment act applies "to all persons currently in custody. . . ." That provision refers to custodial status as of the effective date of the commitment act; it has no relevancy to the question of whether one must be in custody at the time of the filing of the commitment petition. Sections 916.45 and 394.925 are the subject of current litigation in this Court in the case of State v. Atkinson, SC01-1775.

commitment petition be filed on or before any particular date. The only relevant question at the time of the filing of the petition is whether the mental condition and related dangerousness exist at the time the action is filed.

Accordingly, the lower Court properly concluded that no basis existed for the dismissal of the sexually violent predators commitment petition. The case law upon which the Petitioner herein relies does not mandate any contrary conclusion. The primary authority relied upon by the Petitioner is State v. Brewer, 767 So. 2d 1249 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000), which is simply a per curiam affirmance, without opinion, and with no precedential value. The Petitioner herein cites extensively from what is merely the concurring opinion of one of the three judges on the panel.⁹

The Petitioner further relies on <u>Johnson v. Department of Children and Family Services</u>, 747 So. 2d 402 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999). That case was totally unrelated to the question of whether a commitment petition, under the original act, could be filed after the release of an individual from the previously served incarcerative sentence. <u>Jonson</u>

⁹ The Petitioner's brief herein refers to (at page 5, note 2), and attaches, as Appendix B, the trial court order from In re the Commitment of Brewer, Fifth Judicial Circuit Case No. 99-555-CP-03-JF. That pleading is not a part of the record on appeal from either the Second District Court of Appeal, below, or the Tenth Judicial Circuit commitment proceedings regarding Tanguay. In short, the Petitioner's brief and appendix herein rely on what are clearly non-record materials which should be stricken, as they are improperly presented to this Court. See Thornber v. City of Fort Walton Beach, 534 So. 2d 754, 755 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988); Rosenberg v. Rosenberg, 511 So. 2d 593, 595 at n. 3 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987).

held that the report submitted by the multidisciplinary team had to be signed by all members of the team. In essence, the Court said that the report was a prerequisite under the commitment act, and that such a report meant a report signed by all members of the multidisciplinary team. While providing for the "release" of Johnson if the State did not comply with the submission of such a report signed by all members within 72 hours, the Court did not specify that the petition would have to be dismissed as well.

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